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Over the years my passion for agriculture policy and gov-
ernment relations grew, which allowed me to contribute to 
other organizations such as Grain Growers of Canada (GGC) 
where I served as President from 2013 to 2016.”
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Chair’s Message
 Gary Stanford | Alberta Wheat Commission chair

As I begin to write my last Alberta Wheat Commission (AWC) 
chair message, recounting AWC’s success and progress over the 
years is beyond gratifying. I have been a board member with AWC 
since its inception in 2012 and I could not be more proud of all we 
have accomplished together. 

My involvement with wheat commissions in Alberta goes back 
a long way. Many of you may recall when there were two wheat 
commissions in Alberta; the Alberta Winter Wheat Producers 
Commission (AWWPC) and the Alberta Soft Wheat Producers 
Commission (ASWC). In 1996, I joined the AWWPC where I 
devoted 16 years as a board member. Fast forward to early 2011, 
when the AWWPC and ASWC boards began discussing merging to 
form an all-wheat commission in Alberta. That same year, a motion 
was passed at both commission’s annual general meetings to move 
ahead with the formation of AWC, coinciding with the end of the 
Canadian Wheat Board. 

Over the years my passion for agriculture policy and government 
relations grew, which allowed me to contribute to other 
organizations such as Grain Growers of Canada (GGC) where 
I served as President from 2013 to 2016. Through both GGC 
and AWC and alongside my colleagues, I have participated in 
numerous Ottawa lobbying trips to advocate for free-trade deals, 
improvements to business risk management programs, and that 
Canadian farmers should be recognized for their sustainable 
practices. 

I’ve also had the privilege of participating in new crop missions 
alongside my fellow directors and our staff. Led by Cereals Canada, 
the Canadian International Grains Institute and the Canadian Grain 
Commission, these important missions help grow and sustain our 
end use markets and promote the high-quality wheat that Canada 
is known around the world for. Most recently, I participated in a 

mission to Mexico, Ecuador, Colombia and Peru where our biggest 
takeaway was that there is growing demand for our wheat in Latin 
America, and that food safety is a high priority. They recognize 
Canada as reputable food-safety exporter, so discussing our 
sustainable farming practices was a must. 

Our research program is another area that I’m extremely proud 
of. Since inception, AWC has invested more than $16.5 million in 
research projects that maximize crop performance and availability 
of premium varieties. This year we have been proud to take the 
lead alongside Alberta Barley and the Alberta Beef Producers, 
in the development of a white paper to direct the provincial 
government on a path forward to maximize our success. The white 
paper proposes that while the provincial government should play 
a role in setting agricultural policy, these policies be developed in 
consultation with industry. 

Since AWC’s inception in 2012, I witnessed the commission go 
from the newest crop commission to a strong force in the Canadian 
agriculture landscape. I am beyond proud to have been a part of 
this organization. In my 24 years of wheat commission involvement 
I am proud to have been part of forming the direction of AWC.

I would like to thank my fellow directors for your dedication and 
vision on moving the Canadian wheat industry forward. It’s been a 
pleasure working alongside you and learning from you. I tip my cap 
to Tom Steve, AWC’s fearless leader and general manager. Lastly, 
I would like to thank my wife Diane for the unwavering support all 
these years. I look forward to passing the torch come our annual 
general meeting in January at FarmTech. 
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General Manager’s 
Message
Tom Steve | Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions

I’m certain this will be the last time I write about the management 
integration of the Alberta Wheat Commission (AWC) and Alberta 
Barley in the annual report. This grand experiment we started 
in September of 2017 was completed in 2018 and I couldn’t be 
prouder of the results. Having been through a few mergers and staff 
integrations in my working career, this one was completed in record 
time — within a year — and we didn’t need an army of consultants 
to tell us how to do it. 

That said, when the boards asked me to test drive the idea of a 
single management team for the two commissions in September 
of 2017, it seemed like a daunting task to balance the competing 
demands of two boards serving two commodities that serve very 
different markets. Wheat in Alberta is 70-80 per cent destined for 
the milling market and most of it is exported to major customers 
such as Japan, Indonesia, Bangladesh, China and the U.S. By 
comparison, 80 percent of our barley goes to the feed market with 
a major emphasis on feedlot alley in Southern Alberta and the 
domestic malting industry. Barley exports — both feed and malt — 
have been growing in recent years, but are dwarfed by wheat. 

Thanks to a highly skilled management team and dedicated staff, 
we found the right formula and the key to our success has been 
a high degree of communication and collaboration. In 2018-19 
we achieved $410,000 in cost savings through the integration of 
the management team, with most of the savings attributable to 
salaries.  
 
 
 

Among the highlights of 2018-19 were: 

1. The successful launch of the FarmCash program. AWC opened 
for business as an administrator of Agriculture and Agri-Food 
Canada’s Advance Payments Program, better known as the cash 
advance, on September 1, 2018. The response from Alberta 
producers has been overwhelmingly positive.

2. On January 15, 2019 we formally launched the Canadian National 
Wheat Cluster. Worth nearly $25 million over five years, the 
cluster is jointly funded by AWC along with nine other producer 
and private organizations with matching funds from Agriculture 
and Agri-Food Canada. Research projects under the Wheat 
Cluster will aim to produce new varieties with higher yields, 
disease and pest resistance and consistent quality attributes as 
well as improved agronomic practices.

3. A full year of operation under the combined management 
structure. Working as a single team has given us the resources 
to be proactive on major issues affecting farmers. For example, 
in the fall of 2019 when Falling Number in wheat emerged 
as a major issue, our research, extension, markets and 
communications teams came together to get timely information 
out to Alberta farmers.

4. The continued growth of our research extension program, 
including the recruitment of a full-time research extension 
agronomist, Jeremy Boychyn. This has added another dimension 
to our value proposition — from extending the results of the 
research we fund — to providing timely advice to farmers on 
agronomic issues that arise during the growing season.  
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General Manager’s 
Message
Tom Steve | Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions

Thanks to a highly skilled management  
team and dedicated staff, we found the  
right formula and the key to our success has 
been a high degree of communication and 
collaboration.” 

Our markets and government relations and policy efforts continued to flourish 
in 2018-19. In addition to our annual involvement in New Crop Missions, we 
participated in a fact-finding trip with the Canadian International Grains Institute 
(Cigi) and Cereals Canada to Russia and Ukraine to learn more about their 
production practices, grain handling system and research focus.

On the government relations and policy side, we have established a strong working 
relationship with the UCP government since their election in June 2019 and have 
continued to make a difference at both the federal and provincial level through our 
involvement in Team Alberta in partnership with Alberta Barley, Alberta Canola and 
Alberta Pulse Growers.

All of these efforts of course are supported by the best communications team in 
Canadian agriculture because we can do lots of great work but it’s only of value to 
farmers if they know about it.

This annual report coincides with the departure of the last of the original directors of 
the Alberta Wheat Commission from its inception in 2012. This year, we are saying 
goodbye to Cole Siegle, Warren Sekulic and Gary Stanford and I want to personally 
thank them for their efforts on behalf of Alberta farmers.

In particular I want to salute Gary, my outgoing chair, who has devoted most of his 
adult life to farm policy and trying to make the industry work better. We will miss 
Senator Stanford’s passion, dedication and sense of humour.

I would also like to thank my team as well as all directors, delegates and regional 
reps of AWC and Alberta Barley for their support over the past year. It is a privilege 
to work with you.
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Mission 
To increase the long-term profitability of 
wheat and Alberta wheat producers through 
innovative research, market development, 
policy development, communications and 
extension.

Vision 
To be the premier producer organization in 
advancing producers’ interests in the Canadian 
wheat industry.

Position Statement
The Alberta Wheat Commission will be a 
leader in the Canadian wheat industry. We 
will be the catalyst for wheat research and 
innovation and create an environment for 
investment in wheat. We will collaborate 
with industry to strengthen marketing 
opportunities. We will be the go-to 
organization for government to garner  
policy advice. We will lead the Alberta wheat 
industry forward.

Strategic Priorities 
1. Investing in research and development 

projects that maximize crop performance 
and foster profitability. 

2. Strengthening grower access to key wheat 
markets by focusing on end use demand. 

3. Supporting and delivering extension and 
education initiatives that provide our 
members with tools to improve their 
operations.  

4. Building partnerships and advancing 
initiatives that will strengthen the producers’ 
voice on policy issues at the provincial and 
national level. 

5. Communicating and sharing knowledge 
about the Alberta Wheat Commission and 
the wheat industry among producers and 
stakeholders. 

6. Developing strong leaders for a progressive 
and vibrant wheat industry.

Mission, Vision & Values

Board of Directors
From left to right: Todd Hames, John Wozniak, Jason Lenz,  

Warren Sekulic, Hannah Konschuh (vice-chair), Gary Stanford (chair), 
Cole Siegle, Janine Paly, Jason Saunders, Justin Bell, Trevor Petersen

AWC 2018-19 Annual Report   5



Region 1
Dave Bishop (Barons),  
Arthur Eckert (Duchess), 
Jacob Kodde (Coaldale)

Region 2
Jay Schultz (Standard),  
Olivia Sederberg (Oyen), 
Devin Hartzler (Didsbury) 

Region 3
Kent Erickson (Irma),  
Terry Young (Lacombe),  
Kevin Bender (Sylvan Lake)

Region 4 
Kendall Freed (Vegreville), 
Jeffrey Pasemko (Redwater), 
Bernie Klammer (Vegreville)

Region 5
David Bartlett (Fairview),  
Don Borduzak (Stony Plain), 
Otto Rottier (Westlock) 

Regional Representatives
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New Projects 
AWC’s largest annual investment continues to be support for 
research and innovation. AWC-funded research projects develop 
new high-yielding varieties to meet market demands and seek 
ways to maximize crop performance and profitability for wheat 
producers.

During the 2018-19 fiscal year, AWC invested almost $3.5 million 
in 28 new projects, three of which were under the Canadian 
Agricultural Partnership (CAP) Science Clusters. 

Canadian Agricultural Partnership (CAP)
• Funding committed towards three CAP clusters; Canadian 

National Wheat Cluster, Integrated Crop Agronomy Cluster and 
the Organic Science Cluster III. 

CAP Highlights

In January 2019, following the announcement of the Canadian 
National Wheat Cluster, a five-year federal matching program 
under CAP, AWC announced more than $2.6 million in funding for 
22 cutting edge wheat research projects aimed at improved farm 
profitability through variety development, pathology, agronomy and 
pre-breeding. The Canadian National Wheat Cluster is worth nearly 
$25 million in combined federal government (Agriculture and Agri-
Food Canada) and industry funding. 

Farmers can look forward to new varieties that can better resist 
western prairie heat and drought stress, new biotechnology tools 
that will strengthen wheat breeding, and an innovative winter 
wheat agronomic package aimed at improving sustainability on the 
Canadian prairies.

Other research project funding
• 13 Agriculture Funding Consortium (AFC) projects and four 

Agriculture Development Fund (ADF) research projects were 
funded as well as three projects outside of these provincial calls.

For more information on the 
numerous AWC-funded projects, 
visit www.albertwheat.com or read 
our quarterly Spotlight on Research 
publication that features these 
research projects.  

Completed Projects 
13 wheat research projects wrapped up in 2019. These completed 
projects cover a range of topics including, winter wheat 
development, developing high-yielding spring wheat varieties with 
improved disease resistance and the use of plant growth regulators 
as an agronomic tool.

Page 8 displays a few examples of the completed projects from  
2018-19. You can review each of the 13 completed projects on  
www.albertawheat.com.

 

Spotlight on AWC-funded

January, 2020

 

CWRS fertilizer 
project  aims to  
yield results

Pesticide 
degradation 
better than it 
sounds

Science seeks 
to solve FHB…
ASAP

Rolling out the 
unwelcome  
mat for stripe rust

Wheat disease 
research is spot 
on

Research
 

AWC 2018-19 Annual Report   7



You can review each of the 13 completed projects on www.albertawheat.com. 
 Below are a few of the completed projects in 2019:

Project 
Development of spring wheat (SWS and SP) with 
higher yield potential for Alberta’s bio-economy

Principal investigator  
Dr. Harpinder Randhawa, Agriculture and  

Agri-Food Canada, Lethbridge

Outcomes and findings  
Two varieties were registered: AAC Paramount, 
SWS; AAC Awesome, SP. 

Parental lines with improved agronomic and 
disease resistance packages were developed to be 
incorporated into new elite lines.

Project 
Plant Growth Regulators for cereal crops

Principal investigator  
Dr. Sheri Strydhorst, Alberta Agriculture and Forestry  
& Dr. Linda Hall, University of Alberta

Outcomes and findings  
93% of the time the PGRs significantly reduced plant 
height by 3 to 13 cm compared to no PGR application.  

90% of the time the PGRs improved standability when 
lodging occurred. 

59% of the time the PGRs treatments delayed maturity  
by 0.7 to 3 days compared to no PGR application.

56% of the time the PGRs significantly decreased 
thousand kernel weight by 1.1 to 3g/1000 seeds  
compared to no PGR. 

Project 
Developing new high yield wheat varieties  
(CPS and SP), for milling, the animal feed  
and ethanol industry in Alberta

Principal investigator  
Dr. Dean Spaner, University of Alberta

Outcomes and findings  
One variety (Sheba) was registered and later 
changed to a high-yielding CWRS variety.

Two promising lines were entered into their 
third and final year of cooperative registration 
trials, HY2082 for the CPS class, and NH050 
in the CNHR class.

Over the five-year project (2014 - 2019)  
five MSc and five PhD students graduated.

Project 
Best management practices to support the adoption  
of an ultra-early wheat seeding system across broad-
acres in Western Canada

Principal investigator  
Dr. Dean Spaner, University of Alberta 

Outcomes and findings  
Seeding rates of 400 viable seeds/m2 have shown 
benefit to both yield and system stability over more 
conventional seeding rates of 200 seeds/m2.

Fall-applied residual herbicides can be used in an ultra-
early seeding system to maintain high levels of weed 
control without significant risk of crop injury.  

The form of nitrogen had an influence on grain quality 
by increased availability of nitrogen later in the season 
through enhanced efficiency products.  

All 12 wheat varieties tested showed similar 
performance in ultra-early seeding and in conventional 
seeding.

Project 
Expanding Alberta’s capacity for hard red 
spring wheat breeding and the education  
of future scientists

Principal investigator  
Dr. Dean Spaner, University of Alberta

Outcomes and findings  
Eight CWRS wheat varieties were registered: 

1. Parata (SeCan)  
2. Zealand (Lefsrud Seeds)  
3. Tracker (Canterra)  
4. RedNet (SeedNet)  
5. Ellerslie (SeCan)  
6. Jake (Canterra)  
7. Sheba (Penwest Seeds)  
8. PT786.
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In November 2018, Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada (AAFC) 
and the Canadian Food Inspection Agency (CFIA) began industry 
consultations on value creation. During the consultations, AAFC 
and CFIA presented two potential models. The intention of both 
models is to increase overall investment in variety development 
in the cereal sector. Currently in Canada, the majority of variety 
development in cereals is carried out by the public sector which 
includes AAFC, universities and provincial governments. 

The first model, the “EPR” or end-point royalty model, proposes 
that producers pay a royalty at the point of delivery. The second 
model is the “Farm Saved Seed” or trailing royalty, which would 
have producers sign a contract with their certified seed dealer and 
be invoiced yearly for planted acreage. In both models, the royalty 
would flow directly back to the developer of the genetics to allow 
them to capture a return on their investment in plant breeding.

As a result of the initial public consultations in late 2018, a 
producer advisory panel, including representation from AWC, 
was established to review the materials for the next wave of 
consultations. 

AWC has not endorsed either model proposed in the initial 
consultations and will not take a position until certain criteria have 
been met. AWC joined other cereal crop commissions in Western 
Canada to request a more thorough consultation and the release 
of an in-depth economic analysis for wheat, barley and oats that 
shows the impact on producers. 

AWC passed a special resolution at its January 2019 AGM stating 
that the board will only support a change in the royalty system 
that can demonstrate a clear financial benefit to Alberta wheat 
producers.  

White paper submission to Alberta’s 
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry  
Commodity commissions and primary agriculture associations in 
Alberta have collaborated to develop a white paper which directs 
the Alberta government on the research needs of our industry and 
proposes a path forward to maximize our success. Led by Alberta 

Wheat Commission, Alberta Barley and Alberta Beef Producers, 
the white paper covers three areas of research: policy, funding and 
capacity. 

The white paper proposes that, while the provincial government 
should play a role in setting agricultural policy, these policies be 
developed in consultation with industry. Industry groups have a 
strong presence in policy advocacy on both the provincial and 
federal level and work closely with one another. 

The producer-penned document proposes a new funding model. 
In this model, the funding is provided to a producer-directed 
organization at arms-length from the ministry. This position 
ensures that funding is not lost at the end of the fiscal year and 
operations aren’t affected by election cycles. The board includes 
representation from both the crops and livestock sectors, in 
recognition of the critical synergies between them. Funding will 
be split in an equitable and transparent manner between the two 
primary sectors and funding decisions will take into consideration 
industry needs and impacts.

Alberta is unique in that they have research capacity within the 
Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry. Much of the capacity of the 
ministry is critical to producers. The white paper stresses which 
services are essential and need to remain within the ministry, 
which are essential government services but should be transitioned 
to another ministry or subsidiary and further, transitioned to an 
alternative service model outside of the government. The document 
also identifies areas where synergies currently exist amongst 
research stakeholders, and suggests strategic alignments that 
would better serve Alberta producers.

There is a vision for a strong agriculture sector in Alberta, 
supported by a ministry that is supportive of producers’ priorities. 
Funding and programming should be directed by those with the 
best understanding of the needs of the industry, in collaboration 
with a government. Both Minister Dreeshen and Premier Kenney 
have been vocal about the need to put research back in the hands 
of producers. The Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions look 
forward to working with the Minister and staff to see their vision 
come to fruition. 

Value creation 
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Core breeding agreements 
During this fiscal year, along with other members of the Canadian Wheat Research 
Coalition (CWRC), we began the negotiations of two core breeding agreements 
to replace those previously funded by the Western Grains Research Foundation. 
These agreements, with the Crop Development Centre at the University of 
Saskatchewan and Agriculture and Agri-Food Canada, will come into force on 
January 1, 2020 and April 1, 2020, respectively. These agreements are significant, 
not only in size, but also in scope. The core breeding agreements support public 
variety development across the Prairies. Agreements with the University of 
Manitoba and the University of Alberta will be initiated in 2020 and 2021.

The core breeding agreements support public 
variety development across the Prairies.  
Agreements with the University of Manitoba 
and the University of Alberta will be initiated  
in 2020 and 2021.”
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Rail transportation
Following the passage of Bill C-49 — a historic turning point for 
the grain sector — the agriculture industry has been pleased to 
see record grain movement from the railways with total movement 
sitting at 54.3 million metric tonnes at the time of writing. But 
with major grain transportation backlogs still in recent history, 
AWC has remained involved with the subsequent regulatory 
development of this legislation through our involvement with the 
Crop Logistics Working Group (CLWG). Consisting of commodity 
groups and industry, the CLWG provides specific recommendations 
to the federal agriculture minister aimed at improving grain 
transportation. Over the last year, AWC has engaged with the 
federal government on grain transportation consultations covering 
the topics of infrastructure, data reporting, congested regions, and 
capacity mapping.

The main message AWC and other commodity and industry groups 
are conveying through this effort is that additional rail capacity 
is still needed for grains. Improved capacity will help ensure 
movement continues to keep up with growing yields. 

Representing both the Alberta Wheat and Barley Commisisons, 
this message was further conveyed during an October 2018 
presentation at the Rail to Ports conference as part of a panel 
that included commodity shippers. Specifically, we provided 
insights into our industry’s challenges in accessing adequate rail 
transportation services and highlighted efficiency issues at our 
ports.

Comprehensive and Progressive 
Agreement for Trans-Pacific 
Partnership 
At the end of October 2018, the Canadian government finished 
the ratification of the Comprehensive and Progressive Agreement 
for Trans-Pacific Partnership (CPTPP). Shortly after, Australia 
ratified the agreement and the six-member ratification requirement 
for implementation was met. This started a 60-day countdown, 
bringing the CPTPP into effect on December 30, 2018. 

The CPTPP will provide a Canada-specific annual quota which will 
reduce tariffs by 45 to 50 per cent for food quality wheat destined 
for Japan. This quota will initially be for 40 thousand tonnes 
and will increase to 53 thousand tonnes over six years. Reduced 
tariffs will ensure that Canadian wheat exports to Japan remain 
competitive with other countries, including the US, considering that 
the US-Japan bilateral agreement is now complete.

Advocating on behalf of Canadian 
wheat farmers: How AWC got 
involved
• We pressed for Canada to be part of the CPTPP: Through a 

joint letter to Prime Minister Justin Trudeau, the Alberta Wheat 
and Barley Commissions pointed out that Canadian feed barley 
exports to Japan had already fallen by 26 per cent as a result of 
falling behind in other trade deals. We also noted that Japan had 
clearly stated its disinterest in a bi-lateral agreement meaning 
that Canada’s participation in the CPTPP would be the only option 
to regain our share in this important market.

Markets
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• We pressed for quick action in ratifying the CPTPP: Through a joint press release, 
the commissions outlined the need for Canada to be part of the first wave (first six) 
ratifying members to ensure Canada would not lose out on export opportunities. 
Canada has benefited by recovering market share and staying competitive with the 
U.S., Black Sea regions and Australia.

Canada-United States-Mexico Agreement 
Replacing the North American Free Trade Agreement (NAFTA), the Canada-United 
States-Mexico- Agreement (CUSMA) is important to Canadian producers as it 
provides tariff-free access for Canadian wheat into the U.S. and Mexico. The U.S. 
market is one of the largest destinations for combined exports of spring wheat 
and durum, with roughly 1.4 million tonnes imported during the 2018-19 crop year. 
Negotiations on CUSMA are now complete and the deal was signed in December 
2019, although it will not be implemented until all three countries have completed 
ratification. During negotiations, AWC stressed the importance of maintaining 
tariff-free market access and addressing trade irritants that could pose issues in 
the future. This included changes to our laws to ensure that U.S.-grown grain is 
treated the same as Canadian grain at the elevator. AWC looks forward to seeing the 
implementation of this trade agreement.

Feed wheat and barley prices introduced on PDQ
PDQ or Price and Data Quotes, is AWC’s open pricing information service that 
provides regional average grain market prices for nine geographic regions in Western 
Canada using daily price information from more than 90 per cent of grain elevators 
in Western Canada. PDQ is a collaboration between AWC and the Western Grain 
Elevator Association (WGEA) to provide greater price transparency to the Canadian 
Grain market. PDQ pricing is regularly used in media stories and provincial crop 
insurance services.

PDQ was upgraded in 2019 to include weekly Alberta regional feed grain pricing, 
including feed wheat, provide daily price updates on major crops via email, and the 
ability to look up historical regional pricing information. Farmers are encouraged 
to visit www.pdqinfo.ca for information on average daily prices across Western 
Canada, and to sign up for daily pricing emails for their region. 
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Falling Number and the Canadian 
Grain Commission 
After a dry spring and a cold summer that hindered crop 
development, farmers suffered a harvest full of snow and rain 
that impacted crop quality across Western Canada. This difficult 
season led to concerns over sprouting in cereal crops and AWC 
began receiving reports from members of prices being discounted 
at elevators due to low falling number test results. This created 
confusion for farmers as falling number is not a grading factor, 
but has been of growing importance since 2016, with some grain 
companies implementing minimum falling number test results as 
a contract requirement. 

In response to the quality concerns and confusion over grading, 
AWC took quick action to inform growers on what a falling 
number test is, what the results represent, and to share best 
practices from other members who have faced these concerns in 
the past. A special edition of The Growing Point that delved into 
both the marketing and agronomy side of this issue was quickly 
released with short articles that included information about how 
to maximize your profit, how to minimize sprouting in future 
years, information about the Canadian Grain Commission’s 

Harvest Sample Program, and contact information for farmers 
who wanted more information. 

As a result of this proactive approach, AWC’s information was 
recirculated across Western Canada: 

• Our information was also shared by Sask Wheat and Manitoba 
Wheat and Barley Growers Association. 

• We received several requests from media to further relay this 
information to farmers.

• The information was re-distributed to Federated Co-op’s Grow 
Team of more than 350 agronomists by email as well as through 
a webinar we hosted. 

Our position
Since falling number emerged as an issue in 2016, AWC has been 
speaking directly with grain companies to advocate for farmers 
and has brought our concerns to the Canadian Grain Commission 
as well. AWC continues to advocate for falling number to be 
added as a grading factor, but only as a replacement for visual 
grading factors currently used in inspection for sprouting— 
farmers should not be subjected to both. 
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Investigative Mission: Understanding 
Ukraine and Russia 
In September 2018, AWC participated in a Cereals Canada-
led investigative trip to Ukraine and Russia. With increasing 
amounts of global wheat exports originating from the 
region, the team’s goal was to understand what industry 
and government in these regions are undertaking in terms 
of wheat quality development and the improvement of 
farming practices and handling systems. The investigative 
team also included staff from the Canadian International 
Grains Institute (Cigi). 

Main insights:

• There is a focus on trialing new winter wheat varieties. 
While spring wheat varieties are being developed, they 
were not being developed in the regions visited. 

• Wheat varieties developed in other countries such as 
Germany are also being trialed in the region by producers. 

• Winter wheat of medium protein and average gluten 
strength is the primary focus as this fits the quality 
demands of nearby export markets.

• Farm size in this region is varied. While the country has 
many small, owner operated farms, it appears that the 
rise in exportable grains is being driven by a small number 
of agricultural corporations. Each of these corporations 
operate several farms located across the region, with 
each farm operating on very large land masses – around 
40,000 acres minimum per farm. 

• Agricultural holding companies are benefiting from low 
operating costs due to a comparatively low cost of land 
and labour versus that of Canada. 

• The region is able to access the latest in machinery and 
crop protection products, and will likely continue to 
increase production on existing acres as new agricultural 
products and practices are adopted. 

• The main limiting factor for growth is inland logistical 
infrastructure and inefficiencies in rail service. Despite 
investment to ensure that grain can be handled, cleaned, 
dried and stored efficiently, there was no clear investment 
in ensuring that the grain could move long distances from 
the country to the port. 

A growing competitive export region raises the question 
of how Canada’s position will change in the global market. 
However, it’s important to note that exports from the Black 
Sea region are mainly winter wheat due to demand from 
nearby markets. Producers from the region explained that 
production of spring wheat had been considered, but the 
decision to grow winter wheat was made based on farm 
margins. 

The trip revealed that growing exports of wheat from 
Ukraine and Russia markets will result in greater 
competition for medium protein wheat exports, but the 
production from this region is not a direct replacement 
for markets that demand high protein wheat. Canada’s 
customers already blend our wheat exports with wheat 
produced in other countries in order to improve the protein 
content of flour products. With greater global availability 
of medium protein wheat, Canadian wheat producers can 
expect continued strong demand for our high protein wheat 
production.

In September 2018, AWC participated in a Cereals 
Canada-led investigative trip to Ukraine and Russia.” 
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“

Gary Stanford, Chair 
Alberta Wheat Commission

Mexico, Ecuador, Colombia, Peru and Chile

Latin America really values our high-quality wheat as it’s consistent 
in the milling and baking processes. They have a growing demand 
and food-safety is a major priority. They recognize Canada as 
reputable food-safety exporter, so discussing our sustainable 
farming practices is incredibly valuable to our customers.” 

“

John Wozniak, Director 
Alberta Wheat Commission

United Arab Emirates and Nigeria

Canadian wheat exports to Nigeria have significantly grown over 
the past few years. Providing customer service through support and 
assurance of quality is key as they desire our high-quality wheat. 
We continue to build a strong, collaborative relationship with this 
emerging country.”
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New Crop Missions
Led by Cereals Canada, the Canadian Grain Commission, 
and the Canadian International Grains Institute (Cigi), 
AWC participates annually in new crop missions to 
promote our safe, clean, and high-quality Canadian wheat 
to our global customers. The new crop missions are an 
opportunity to showcase Canadian farming practices to 
international buyers. 

Our new crop mission representatives help buyers to 
better understand how Canadian farmers select seed, 
plant it and harvest it, while leveraging Canada’s natural 
resources of clean air, clean water, and clean land. While 
the new crop missions are an opportunity for Canadian 
farmers to directly promote our grain to our customers, 
they are also an opportunity for customers to voice 
concerns directly back to the Canadian value chain. The 
missions double as a forum that Canada uses to work 
toward resolving any existing or potential trade barriers 
and market access issues. Strong communication and 
relationships with our customers help with resolving trade 
issues and ensuring Canadian farmers are selling market-
ready grain. 

The 2019 new crop missions specifically provided an 
opportunity to reassure customers who expressed 
concerns related to the quality of this year’s crop due to 
poor weather during the Canadian harvest. International 
end users expressed concerns to the Canadian teams over 
wheat exports having lower falling number test results 
than in previous years. Our teams demonstrated milling 
and baking test results to reassure our customers that 
Canadian wheat would remain a functional and valuable 
ingredient for their products. 

AWC’s 2018 participants included Kevin Bender, past 
board chair, who travelled to the Philippines, United Arab 
Emirates, Nigeria and Ghana and past director Terry 
Young who travelled to Japan and Indonesia. AWC’s 2019 
participants included board chair Gary Stanford and 
director John Wozniak. Gary presented to customers in 
Canada, Mexico, Ecuador, Columbia, Peru, and Chile. John 
presented in Nigeria and the United Arab Emirates.

“

Jake Leguee, Director 
Sask Wheat Development Commission

Algeria, Tunisia, Morocco and Italy

In every case, the buyers were keenly 
interested in what our farming practices 
are - why we do what we do, how we make 
decisions, and how we look after our crops. 
Speaking directly to our end-users is an 
amazing way to learn what it is they care 
about when considering which producer to 
buy from.”

“

Boris Michaelaski, Director 
Manitoba Wheat and Barley Growers Association

Japan and Philippines

Japan is a quality-focused Canadian wheat 
customer. This trade mission serves a 
product support role by sharing grading, 
milling and baking data with international 
millers and bakers, which is critical in 
maintaining customer satisfaction.”

“

Brett Halstead, Director  
Sask Wheat Development Commission

Indonesia, Singapore and China

The new crop missions are essential to me 
being able to continue to market my wheat. 
We need to be able to listen to international 
customers and answer their questions, as 
well as tell our Canadian grower story. It is 
important to consistently work on building 
and maintaining these important trade 
partner relationships.” 
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A message from Cereals Canada
Cam Dahl | President

Cereals Canada’s mission is to enhance the competitiveness 
of the Canadian cereals industry by providing leadership on 
behalf of the value chain including key initiatives of common 
and strategic interest such as, innovation, market development, 
market access and sector advocacy. 

Cereals Canada is focused on bringing value back to the 
Alberta producer through a variety of efforts and collaborations 
including: 

• Keeping markets open: This past year was a year of market 
access issues. This included the ongoing issues with country 
of origin labelling in Italy. Cereals Canada is also successfully 
working to keep Peru open. The Peruvian market, one of our 
top five destinations for Canadian wheat, is threatened by new 
phytosanitary rules on weed seeds that have been proposed by 

Peru. Weed seeds have also become an issue for shipments into 
Vietnam. We are also seeing developing market access issues 
relating to pesticides, such as glyphosate, in Thailand, which 
was a 300,000 tonne market in the 2018-19 crop year. 

 Cereals Canada works closely with exporters, the Market 
Access Secretariat, Global Affairs Canada and our embassies in 
countries to find resolutions to the growing number of market 
access issues.

 The annual new crop missions provide a key opportunity to 
meet with customers and importing country regulators on 
existing and emerging market access issues. The inclusion of 
farmers in these one-on-one meetings is a valuable addition to 
the discussions.  

Mission

Cereals Canada is focused on bringing value back  
to the Alberta producer through a variety of efforts 
and collaborations.”
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• Trade advocacy: Cereals Canada is a strong advocate for increased trade. The work does 
not stop when trade agreements are signed. The rules of trade must be enforced. The 
issues with moving durum into Italy is one example where a recently signed agreement, 
the Comprehensive Economic and Trade Agreement (CETA) with Europe, has not 
protected Canadian access. Cereals Canada continues to push the Government of 
Canada to aggressively stand up for Canadian trading interests in this case. 

• New crop missions to key markets: These missions bring the Canadian International 
Grains Institute (Cigi), the Canadian Grain Commission (CGC), grain farmers and 
exporters under a single umbrella to deliver technical information on each year’s crop 
to customers around the world. This work builds customer relationships that can help 
remove market impediments and resolve customer concerns and uncertainty.  
AWC’s commitment to the missions, including nominating producer participants, is a 
critical component of their success. www.canadianwheat.ca.

• Market Access Committee: This includes farmers, including AWC, crop input 
developers, exporters and processors. The committee addresses market access issues, 
such as increasing scrutiny of grain shipments for pesticide residues and mycotoxins like 
deoxynivalenol and Ochratoxin A.

 The committee also addresses potential market access issues arising from the 
introduction of new crop input products (e.g. pesticides).

• Keep It Clean-Cereals: This campaign is closely linked to the work of the Market Access 
Committee focused on best management practices for the use of crop inputs and is an 
example of collaboration with other organizations such as the Canola Council, Pulse 
Canada, Barley Council of Canada, and Prairie Oat Growers Association, to help keep 
markets open for Alberta producers. In the past year we have seen growing concerns 
around pesticide residues (e.g. glyphosate), which has underlined the importance and 
value of the Keep it Clean program. 

• Effective development of standing committees and technical working groups, to provide 
leadership on issues: wheat classification modernization, variety registration reform, 
market development, issues arising from asynchronous approval of pesticides, maximum 
residue issues and other non-tariff market issues related to crop inputs. 

These example activities and others strengthen Alberta’s producers’ market position 
domestically and internationally. 

A message from Cereals Canada
Cam Dahl | President

info@CerealsCanada.ca   |  www.cerealscanada.ca
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Team Alberta represents a working collaboration between four 
of Alberta’s crop commissions: Alberta Barley, Alberta Canola, 
Alberta Pulse Growers and the Alberta Wheat Commission. We 
work together with the aim to provide input to provincial and 
federal policy makers, ensure long-term access to promote the 
sustainability of the crop sector, and advocate on behalf of farmers 
while enabling grass roots advocacy by our farmer members. Learn 
more about Team Alberta by visiting our new website, launched in 
October 2019, at www.teamalbertacrops.com.

Provincial Advocacy
Provincial Election
Leading up to the 2019 provincial election, the Alberta Wheat and 
Barley Commissions took an active role in facilitating engagement 
between farmers and major political parties.

Priority issues
Throughout the campaign period and following the election, the 
commissions have advocated for four key priority issues: 

Market Access: Each of the crops we represent are facing market 
access issues with canola into China, durum into Italy, pulses into 
India and barley into Saudi Arabia. We are looking to the provincial 
government to work with the federal government to resolve these 
issues. We are also looking to the Alberta International Trade 
offices that can assist in market information and provide support 
for businesses and trade in key markets.

Regulatory Barriers: Our sector sees opportunities to engage in 
reductions of regulatory barriers to allow for increased growth and 
business opportunities. This could address, for example, issues like 
outdated regulations concerning fusarium head blight.

Sustainability, Climate Change and Carbon Tax: Government 
needs to increase recognition of the key role that farmers play in 
carbon sequestration. 

Competitiveness through Innovation: Government needs to focus 
on a plan forward for research funding that will drive innovation 
and build our competitiveness as a sector. Research innovation is 
critical to gaining competitive advantages.

Our strategy leading up to the provincial election
Our strategy ensured that parties were aware of the priority issues 
that farmers face and our recommendations on the best path 
forward. This included:

• Two candidates debates: Debates were held at Prairie Cereals 
Summit and the Barley Power Hour during FarmTech. Both 
debates included current Agriculture Minister Devin Dreeshen 
who faced off against candidates of other political parties.

• Community Action Network: This initiative was launched as 
a pre-election effort to facilitate a direct link between farmers 
and their elected officials. This effort proved successful and the 
commissions will maintain the action network to ensure the lines 
of communication remain open with both federal and provincial 
elected officials.

• Team Alberta Breakfast: This event takes place annually during 
both AgriTrade in Red Deer and and AgExpo in Lethbridge. The 
2018 event featured Alberta Counsel, who gave projections and 
insights leading up to the provincial election. The 2019 breakfast 
included remarks from Agriculture Minister Devin Dreeshen 
and insights following the federal election from Erin Gowriluk, 
Executive Director of the Grain Growers of Canada.

• The Grain Exchange: For farmers who missed the 2018 Team 
Alberta breakfast, a written version of Alberta Counsel’s election 
projections and insights was featured in the commissions’ 
quarterly newsletter, The Grain Exchange.

Policy and Government Relations 
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New government elected
Following the provincial election, the commissions have 
focused efforts on developing relationships with the 
new government. In doing so, Team Alberta was the first 
stakeholder group to meet with Agriculture Minister 
Devin Dreeshen where they discussed the priority issues 
as outlined above. Since that time, the commissions have 
had a number of meetings with the minister. 

MELT Training
In response to the NDP government’s new rules that 
ramped up Class 1 license training requirements by 
introducing Mandatory Entry Level Training (MELT), 
Team Alberta advocated for government consultation 
with the agriculture sector and for a reasonable deadline 
to be established. Team Alberta was concerned that 
the original March 1 deadline would cause unintended 
consequences for farmers who are dependent on 
seasonal labour that requires a Class 1 licence since much 
of that labour is hired and trained immediately prior to 
seeding. Additionally, capacity issues at training facilities 
made the courses difficult to get into. In response to these 
changes, Team Alberta met directly with the transport 

ministry to express our concerns. We also issued a press 
release that outlined the unintended consequences 
that would ensue and pointed farmers to government 
information that explained the new system.

Team Alberta’s advocacy efforts were successful, 
resulting in new rules that would allow farmers to apply 
for an extension to become MELT compliant. Successful 
applicants would have until March 1, 2021 to comply with 
the new requirements. Following this announcement, 
the government further lengthened the time period that 
farmers could apply for the extension, giving farmers until 
November 30, 2020 to apply. Even with the new rules 
that allow farmers to apply for an extension to complete 
the training, the commissions still have concerns that 
capacity shortages at training facilities may still make 
it challenging to meet the extended deadline. Further, 
concerns continue to exist regarding the cost and time 
required for testing. We continue to work with the current 
government to try and resolve the backlog for training 
and consider models that might be more applicable to 
agriculture without sacrificing safety. 

 

Following the provincial election, the commissions 
have focused efforts on developing relationships 
with the new government.”
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Farm Freedom and Safety Act 
Consultations
One of the conservative government’s campaign 
promises during the provincial election was to repeal Bill 
6, The Enhanced Protection for Farm and Ranch Workers 
Act and replace it with the Farm Freedom and Safety 
Act. Some of the changes considered include: exempting 
small farms from employment standards, allowing for 
choice of market insurance or Workers’ Compensation 
Board (WCB) as long as basic employment standards 
of coverage are met, as well as allowing for flexibility 
in meeting workplace standards in recognition of the 
unique needs of farming operations. 

The Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions were active 
in promoting the consultation dates and locations and 
encouraging farmers to participate in the government’s 
online survey. The commissions also submitted a letter 
to the minister in support of our positions during the 
consultations, the intention of the changes and the need 
to retain basic safety standards. We have also expressed 
the need for continued support of AgSafe Alberta – a 
farmer-driven organization that provides a valuable 
service and contributes to a culture of on-farm safety.

 

FHB Working Group
The Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions continue 
to lead the Fusarium Working Group, a value-chain 
collaboration, aimed at modernizing fusarium head 
blight (FHB) management in Alberta. The working group 
was formed from a 2017 AWC resolution to see FHB 
removed from the Alberta Agricultural Pest Act. 

The commissions engaged in discussion with the 
new government on the matter, specifically Minister 
Dreeshen, Agriculture and Forestry Ministry. In 
the meeting Minister Dreeshen encouraged the 
commissions to further engage with the industry 
at large in order to work toward consensus for the 
proposed change. The Fusarium Working Group has 
begun meeting with Ag Service Boards, municipalities 
and counties to gain a broader understanding of the 
interpretation and implementation of the current 
regulations across the province and to measure the 
desire for change. In the new year, the working group 
will continue to advance a communications strategy and 
broadly engage with stakeholders across the province to 
build on a collaborative approach to the issue. 

During this time and while the FHB problem around the 
province grows, the commissions will continue to keep 
farmers informed on how they can best manage FHB in 
their fields and be an advocate for much needed change 
in FHB management in the province.
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Federal Advocacy
Outreach missions to Ottawa
Outreach missions are a bi-annual occurrence and are a Team 
Alberta effort whenever possible. Through these missions to 
our nation’s capital, Team Alberta representatives meet with 
federal officials, providing a unique opportunity for government 
representatives and farmer directors to discuss the impact of 
policy decisions at the farm gate. We will continue to encourage 
our farmer directors to engage with their elected Members of 
Parliament in our continued effort to grow our community action 
network. One of the highlights of the April 2019 outreach mission 
to Ottawa was Team Alberta’s meeting with the Honourable 
Bernadette Jordan, Canada’s rural and economic development 
minister. Minister Jordan is Canada’s first-ever minister of this file, 
and her ministry’s focus is on designing an economic development 
strategy for rural Canada. Team Alberta was encouraged by her 
plan to improve rural broadband internet service, a major issue for 
farmers. 

Federal Election
As with the provincial election, the Alberta Wheat and Barley 
Commissions were active leading up to the 2019 federal election to 
ensure farmers had access to the information they needed before 
heading to the polls. This involved communications with both MP 
candidates and party leaders to ensure they were aware of the 
priority issues affecting farmers.

Priority issues
Throughout all election communications, Team Alberta’s priority 
topics included global trade, the carbon tax, business risk 
management programs, pesticide regulations, the Canadian Grain 
Commission (CGC) surplus and calls for CGC reform. 

Our strategy leading up to the federal election:
• Election questionnaire: Team Alberta distributed a questionnaire 

to all major parties that asked them to explain how they would 
address our priority issues. Responses were received from all four 
parties prior to the federal election and can all be found at  
www.teamalbertacrops.com.

• Information to Alberta MP candidates: Team Alberta prepared an 
overview of the priority issues and included farmer testimonials.

• Federal debates: Grain farmers who represent Team Alberta 
filmed videos that were sent to media prior to the federal debates 
with the goal of seeing our priority issues addressed on air.

• Before the vote: Federal platform analysis: the commissions 
analyzed all major party platforms and summarized the areas 
that applied to the crop sector. The analysis also summarized the 
responses to the election questionnaire. The analysis was sent via 
email to all subscribers of both of the commissions’ mailing lists.

Post Election Strategy 
With the election now behind us, and results that show Alberta’s 
perspective will be needed more than ever, the commissions will 
continue to build our already-strong presence in Ottawa. Looking 
ahead, the commissions will be participating in National Grains 
Week in mid-February and will also be part of a Team Alberta 
outreach mission in late April.

Pest Management Regulatory Agency 
Engagement
In response to the Pest Management Regulatory Agency’s 
(PMRA’s) proposed re-evaluation decision that would eliminate 
almost all agricultural uses of chlorpyrifos – the active ingredient 
in Lorsban – the Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions prepared 
a submission that pointed out the challenges farmers would face 
with both wheat midge eggs and adult populations, as well brown 
wheat mite. Lorsban is the only known option for controlling these 
pests, and products containing chlorpyrifos are the best option for 
controlling cutworm populations in wheat and barley crops.

The submission went on to express our concerns with the 
continued flaws that exist within the PMRA evaluation process 
itself. Our submission pointed out that PMRA decisions not only fail 
to include cost-benefit analysis factors, but also that they are made 
on an overly conservative basis that doesn’t differentiate between 
regional application and usage patterns. At the time of writing, 
the commissions are still waiting on outstanding final decisions, 
notably related to the neonicotinoid seed treatments. We will 
continue to monitor these decisions and keep farmers informed.
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Team Alberta Grain  
Conditioning Study
In 2019 Team Alberta launched a grain conditioning study to assess on-farm 
energy consumption and efficiency of grain drying and conditioning systems. 
The study consists of monitoring and analyzing numerous farmer participant’s 
grain drying and conditioning systems in Alberta. The three-year study is funded 
through the Canadian Agricultural Partnership (CAP).

The data obtained from the grain conditioning study will be a critical source 
of information for Alberta farmers regarding efficiencies, implementation or 
expansion of grain conditioning systems. Information gained will also be used 
for advocacy purposes such as improving programs and policies that seek to 
reduce the cost burden associated with on-farm grain conditioning in Alberta. 
Team Alberta began recruiting farmer volunteers in the spring of 2019 and had a 
successful uptake with over 40 participants beginning in July.

The data obtained from the grain conditioning 
study will be a critical source of information for 
Alberta farmers.”
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2018-19 marked an exciting time at Grain Growers of Canada 
(GGC). First off GGC acquired new members ensuring 
representation in every province). This means that GGC is 
better positioned than ever before to deliver on its commitment 
to bring a united farmer voice to the nation’s capital! GGC 
also adopted a new policy development process which invites 
all members, regardless of whether or not they hold a seat at 
the board table, to actively participate in policy development 
through four issue-focused committees.

2019 also marked the start of my tenure as the organization’s 
Executive Director. While I’m new to the role, I’m not new to 
GGC. As one of the founders of “Team Alberta,” I served as 
Policy & Government Relations Manager with the Alberta 
Wheat and Barley Commissions before moving to Ottawa for an 
opportunity with one of GGC’s industry partners, Syngenta. 

Canadian grain growers are caught in the global trade crossfire. 
Commodities such as soybeans, wheat, barley, pulses, and 
canola are either directly hit by trade restrictions or have had to 
endure the economic ripple effects of trade wars between other 
countries. This is happening at a time when the realized net 
farm income of agricultural producers fell 45.1 per cent in 2018 
to $3.9 billion, the largest percentage decrease since 2006. 

Equally disconcerting is the rise of non-tariff barriers in an 
increasing number of countries that represent significant export 
market opportunities for Canada’s grain growers. Increasing 
competition and a move towards non-tariff trade barriers 
are making it more difficult for farmers to compete on the 
international market. Farmers need more predictable, reliable 
access to export markets in order to maximize their economic 
potential. 

The Government of Canada can play a critical role in fostering 
an environment of competitive liberalization and stronger 
rules-based trade on the global stage. While commendable, 
the government’s work to reform the WTO’s governance 
structure and dispute resolution mechanism should be 
complemented by a cogent trade strategy. The government 
must ensure commercially viable access to export markets 
both in terms of tariff improvements as well as an improved 
trading environment. GGC has and will continue to encourage 
the Federal Government to work with industry to develop 
a comprehensive strategy to address the market access 
challenges facing Canada’s agriculture sector. This means 
working with the government as a “willing partner” to mitigate 
trade risks for grain growers.

The core pillars of the strategy include, but are not limited to, 
the following:

• Building technical capacity in Canadian missions’ abroad, 
international organizations (i.e. Codex) to adequately 
recognize and address the needs of grain growers.

• Leveraging free trade agreements, international partnerships, 
forums, etc. to enhance market access opportunities. 

• Addressing ongoing barriers to Canadian agricultural exports, 
notably missing or misaligned maximum residue limits.

• Harnessing the progressive elements of CETA, CUSMA and 
CPTPP to facilitate Canadian grower access to plant breeding 
innovation.

A message from Grain Growers  
of Canada
Erin Gowriluk | Executive Director
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The Growing Point 
In October 2018, the Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions welcomed a new role 
and team member. With the goal of bridging the gap between research and agronomy 
to growers, Jeremy Boychyn was hired as the research agronomy extension specialist. 
Jeremy is the commissions’ boots on the ground approach to extending agronomic 
knowledge, resources and tools to Alberta farmers. Our new agronomy newsletter, The 
Growing Point, which was launched in April 2019, features articles, podcasts and videos 
that provide timely agronomic information for Alberta farmers and agronomists. Jeremy 
also takes the conversation online engaging researchers, agronomists and farmers on 
Twitter to discuss the latest growing season issues at hand.

Newsletter

The speed at which frost  
(or temperature drop) 
occurs will also play a 
role. This is because a 
slower rate of temperature 
decrease will lead to larger 
ice crystals as compared to 

a fast temperature drop.” 

Jeremy Boychyn (Alberta 
Wheat and Barley 

Commissions)

Effects of frost on cereal 
crops, September 2019 
edition

URL: 

www.albertabarley.com/the-growing-point/

Podbean podcast:  
thegrowingpointpodcast.podbean.com

Podcast apps available on:  
Apple or Spotify 

Barley straw is more 
valuable per acre than 
that of wheat or oat straw. 
Barley and oat straw are in 
higher demand by livestock 
producers for bedding and 
some animal feed.” 

Clair Langlois (Alberta 
Agriculture and Forestry)

Cereal straw: a hidden value 
on your farm, September 
2019 edition

For the fungicide 
applications, there was no 
difference in yield between 
the flag and leaf timing 
applications which, on 
average, increased barley 
yields by three  
per cent.” 

Jeremy Boychyn (Alberta 
Wheat and Barley 
Commissions)

Advanced agronomics for 
barley production, April 2019 
edition

It is important to take note 
of moisture conditions, 
as well as the physical 
symptoms of the plants, in 
order to correctly identify 
diseases.” 

Jeremy Boychyn (Alberta 
Wheat and Barley 
Commissions)

Identifying cereal leaf 
diseases, July 2019 edition

…a slight increase in disease 
severity was seen when 
fungicide was delayed until 
head emergence. However, 
there was no difference in 
final yield at either fungicide 
timing.”

Jeremy Boychyn (Alberta 
Wheat and Barley 
Commissions)

Delayed leaf fungicide timing 
– is it worth it?, July 2019 
edition

Extension Initiatives 
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Podcast

This whole idea came out of the many little 
hammers theory. The idea is that if there is 
one big hammer dropping from the sky it’s 
easier to dodge. If there’s a whole bunch of 
little hammers coming down at the same 

time, one of them is going to hit you.” 

Breanne Tidemann (Agriculture  
and Agri-Food Canada)

Weed management and the Harrington Seed 
Destructor with Dr. Breanne Tidemann

The grower has to consider their  
variety, their fertility package, and their 

cropping history.” 

Sheri Strydhorst (Alberta Agriculture 
 and Forestry)

A discussion with Dr. Sheri Strydhorst  
on fungicides, in-crop nitrogen and PGR’s

As an agronomist we are yield driven by 
what we are looking for, but that stability 
piece… we’d be remiss if we ignored it.”

Brian Beres (Agriculture and Agri-Food 
Canada)

Winter wheat best seeding practices  
with Dr. Brian Beres

725 Tweets 1056 Mentions

530,300 Impressions 
(‘000s)

360 New Followers

5356 Profile Visits

Follow along with The Growing Point on Twitter.
Performance data from March to October 2019
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Applied Research Associations
AWC collaborates with Applied Research Associations (ARAs) to support farmers in the many regions  
of Alberta. This year, AWC supported nine ARAs:

 

Lethbridge, AB 
Farming Smarter

Manning, AB 
North Peace Applied  

Research Association 

Fairview, AB
Peace Country Beef  

& Forage Association

Westlock, AB 
Gateway Research Organization

Forestburg, AB 
Battle River Research Association

Bonnyville, AB 
Lakeland Research Association

Falher, AB
Smoky Applied Research and Demonstration 
Association

Oyen, AB 
Chinook Applied  

Research Association 

Fort Vermilion, AB 
Mackenzie Applied  

Research Association
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AWC collaborates with Applied Research  
Associations (ARAs) to support farmers”
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AWC is a silver sponsor of Canadian Agronomist, 
an online resource that translates crop industry 
research into agronomic knowledge that farmers 
and agronomists can use.”
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WheatStalk is AWC’s annual summer extension 
event. Hosted at Farming Smarter in Lethbridge in 
2018 and at Teepee Creek near Grande Prairie in 
2019, WheatStalk delivers one day of agronomy 
solutions to Alberta growers. This year, WheatStalk 
stations varied in topics including winter wheat, soil 
health, foliar fungicide on disease resistant varieties, 
intercropping demos and more.

Making the Grade
Hosted alongside Alberta Barley, Alberta Canola 
and the Alberta Pulse Growers, Alberta Wheat 
Commission held a grain grading workshop in Olds, 
Alberta called Making the Grade. Attendees rotated 
between four different grading stations; wheat, barley, 
canola and pulses, where they learned grading from 
industry experts. Since grade determines price, this 
event is always a hit and often sold out.

 
The AgSafe Alberta Society is a collaboration of 
crop and livestock sector producer groups that have 
come together to develop and deliver farm safety 
management tools, resources and programs for 
farmers and ranchers in the province of Alberta. AWC 
is a proud funder of AgSafe Alberta and its efforts 
towards keeping farmers and ranchers safe. Farmers 
can learn more about AgSafe by visiting  
www.agsafeab.ca.  
 
 
 
 
 
 

Nuffield Canada Agricultural 
Scholarships
AWC values the necessity to foster future leaders 
in the Canadian agriculture landscape. Nuffield 
scholars are selected as the future agriculture leaders 
who are ready to challenge themselves in a year of 
international travel and agriculture studies. Selected 
recipients complete their one-year study and extend 
their research and findings back for the benefit of 
the entire Canadian agriculture industry. This years’ 
winner of the AWC-funded scholarship is Dawn 
Trautman, manager of Smart Agriculture and Food 
Innovation with Alberta Innovates. Dawn plans to 
study the barriers of Smart Agriculture adoption for 
Canadian producers.

Farm Management Canada
Farm Management Canada (FMC) offers resources 
and tools on agriculture financial management, 
business risk assessment, commodity marketing, 
family transition planning and many other industry 
topics. AWC values our producers having management 
tools readily available, so farmers can make the 
best decision for their operations. Through AWC’s 
sponsorship with FMC, a two-part webinar entitled 
“Farm Financials to Help you Sleep at Night” was 
released this fall to offer solid financial tips for 
growers.

 
AWC is a silver sponsor of Canadian Agronomist, 
an online resource that translates crop industry 
research into agronomic knowledge that farmers and 
agronomists can use. Canadian Agronomist covers a 
wide range of topics and the most prominent crops 
across Canada. Farmers can find more information at 
www.canadianagronomist.ca.
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Communications 

Life’s Simple Ingredient 
AWC continues to deliver its Life’s Simple Ingredient campaign — an initiative 
aimed at encouraging consumers to feel good about eating wheat. Operating 
primarily in the digital space, the campaign celebrates the health benefits 
and wholesomeness of this timeless ingredient. AWC is currently working 
with Cereals Canada in an effort to expand the presence of a Canadian wheat 
campaign to reach markets across Canada. 

A few highlights from this year’s campaign included: 
• Open Farm Days – Kneehill Long Table Dinner and Farmer’s Market
• Family Day Stand Mixer Contest
• Crème custom made Stampede themed cream puff
• Development of a quarterly newsletter with meal planning guides

Learn more about our campaign at www.lifessimpleingredient.ca.

Make It A Wheat Christmas
No matter how you bake it, wheat is a great source of fibre, which helps to lower 
cholesterol levels and regulate blood sugar. It’s also loaded with essential vitamins 
and minerals like magnesium, zinc, iron, thiamin, folate, potassium and Vitamin B6. 
Get cooking at lifessimpleingredient.ca

Operating primarily in the digital space, the campaign 
celebrates the health benefits and wholesomeness of 
this timeless ingredient.” 
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Communications 

Make It A Wheat Christmas
No matter how you bake it, wheat is a great source of fibre, which helps to lower 
cholesterol levels and regulate blood sugar. It’s also loaded with essential vitamins 
and minerals like magnesium, zinc, iron, thiamin, folate, potassium and Vitamin B6. 
Get cooking at lifessimpleingredient.ca

Taste this newsletter in your browser

Go slow, instantly Activate your winter

Whether you’ve got all day to simmer,
or no time at all, the Recipe Rebel has
you covered with delicious slow
cooker and instant pot recipes.
Try some quick Chili Mac or a slow
batch of Beef and Barley Soup.

Alberta doesn’t hibernate. Stay active
with Calgary’s Resolution Run, the
Alberta Food & Beverage Expo in
Lethbridge, or Edmonton’s Ice on Whyte.
Don’t forget to fuel up and stay warm
with the slow-burning energy of wheat.

Get Cooking Get Going

© 2019 - Alberta Wheat Commission
#200, 6815- 8th Street NE

Calgary, Alberta
T2E 7H7

 
Manage my subscription
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Barley outlook remains 
favourable
“The 2018-19 marketing year has been 
positive for Canadian barley growers. 
While the malt barley segment hasn’t 
been spectacular, an exceptionally strong 
market for feed barley has kept prices for 
both classes supported.”

Chuck Penner, LeftField Commodity  
Research, June 2019

Policy Tracker
“Polling figures released on July 30, 2018 
showed the United Conservative Party 
holding a lead over the governing NDP, 
hovering just over 50 per cent support 
among decided and leaning voters. 
Team Alberta will be engaging with all 
parties and looking for the support of 
our members to get our messaging out 
regarding farmers’ priorities for the 
elected party.”

Shannon Sereda, Policy and Government 
Relations Manager, October 2018 

China’s top maltsters tour the 
prairie and explore new malt 
barley varieties 
“In recent years, China’s purchases have 
been primarily AC Metcalfe and CDC 
Copeland, so this tour was an opportunity 
for buyers to see newer varieties. Getting 
international buyers on board with testing 
and ultimately purchasing new varieties 
will be critical to transition away from the 
older and less competitive varieties.” 

Peter Watts, Canadian Malting Barley 
Technical Centre, October 2018

Issued quarterly, the commissions’ newsletter The Grain Exchange covers a wide range 
of topics including commission updates and major industry news. 

Grain  
Exchange
The
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A look at the new international 
trade deals and what they 
mean for Canada 
“Under CPTPP, our feed barley will 
immediately be treated similarly to 
Australian feed barley. This should help 
improve Canadian exports into 2019.”

Geoff Backman, Business Development 
and Markets Manager, January 2019

Bushels of praise for new 
wheat variety 
“[AAC Crossfield] yielded exactly 
5 bushels/acre more than Penhold, 
coming in at just under 100 bushels/
acre” 

Geoff Geddes, The Word Warrior, 
March 2019

Final piece of the wheat 
genome jigsaw puzzle in 
place 
“Through the International Wheat 
Genome Sequencing Consortium, 
an international team was able to 
sequence the genome of Chinese 
Spring hexaploidy wheat in its 
entirety. Researchers across Canada 
contributed to this work through the 
CTAG2 project, led by Drs. Curtis 
Pozniak and Andrew Sharpe.” 

Lauren Comin, Director of Research, 
October 2018

Barton’s recent appointment a glimmer 
of hope for Canadian agriculture 
“Then in the lead up to the 2019 federal election, 
a glimmer of hope. Prime Minister Justin Trudeau 
announced the appointment of Dominic Barton as 
Canada’s new Ambassador to China. Yes, despite 
all of the challenges we face with one of our most 
important trading partners, there is some hope in 
this appointment.” 

Erin Gowriluk, Grain Growers of Canada,  
October 2019 

Royalty discussion a hot topic
“It shouldn’t have come as a surprise that farmers 
reacted strongly at the mere suggestion of any 
change in royalties on wheat and barley seed. After 
all, farmers’ right to use farm-saved seed is a time-
honoured practice in western Canadian agriculture 
enshrined in law.” 

Tom Steve, General Manager, January 2019
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Wally and Betty’s Grain Gallery 
Launched at the Calgary Stampede, Wally and Betty’s Grain Gallery 
was a hit with kids at the Greatest Outdoor Show on Earth. The 
new booth uses augmented reality to showcase the farm to table 
process, giving kids the opportunity to learn about where their 
food comes from through cutting-edge technology. The booth 
also serves as an opportunity for commission staff, directors 
and delegates to answer parent and teacher questions about 
how farmers grow wheat and barley. In addition to the Calgary 
Stampede’s AgTivity in the City event, the Alberta Wheat and 
Barley Commissions look forward to showcasing our augmented 
reality experience at Aggie Days in Calgary and Lethbridge, and 
Amazing Ag in Edmonton.

Next Level Farming
Held regionally in collaboration with Alberta Barley and the Alberta 
Pulse Growers, Next Level Farming events are an opportunity for 
the commissions to hold events as close to your farm as we can. 
This year’s one-day, conference-style events featured market 
insights, regional agronomy specialists and farm management tips. 
Next Level Farming events are also an important part of AWC’s 
governance process. During these events, farmers can nominate 
and vote their peers onto the commission’s board of directors and 
representative (rep) body. Farmers are also encouraged to put 
forward resolutions on issues they feel the commission should 
respond to.

FarmTech
AWC is one of the five hosts of FarmTech, Canada’s premier crop 
production show. During this event, attendees set their own agenda 
during daily concurrent sessions and special host events. Farmers 
also visit with commission staff, directors and reps at our booth and 
throughout the three-day event. 

Annual General Meeting
AWC’s Annual General Meeting (AGM) is one of the special events 
held at FarmTech. Similar to Next Level Farming events, the AGM 
is also an opportunity to debate and vote on resolutions that come 
from the Next Level Farming regional events.

Social Media
AWC has ramped up our social media presence this year with more 
than 1,500 new followers over last year and more interaction than 
ever before. Find us on Twitter, one of our primary platforms for 
two-way communications with farmers.

Trade Shows
AWC sees value in attending as many agriculture related trade 
shows as we can. Trade shows are an opportunity for farmers to 
meet directly with commission staff, directors and reps, and learn 
more about the commission’s work. This year, AWC had a booth at 
FarmTech, and shared a joint booth with Alberta Barley at AgExpo 
and AgriTrade.

AWC has ramped up our social media  
presence this year with more than 1,500 new 
followers over last year and more interaction 
than ever before.” 
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Held in the heart of the Rocky Mountains at the 
Banff Springs Hotel, the Alberta Wheat and Barley 
Commissions hosted the 2018 Prairie Cereals 
Summit as a collaborative event for the first time 
ever. A product of the commissions’ new Better 
Together mantra, this event attracted more 
attendees than ever before and resulted in record 
level sponsorship revenue. 

Overwhelmingly positive reviews from 2018 
attendees demonstrated that the event is providing 
value that farmers and agriculture industry 
professionals alike can enjoy. With these results 
in mind, the commissions held this event together 
in 2019 as well which proved to be an even bigger 
success. 

 
 

Attendees of the 2019 Prairie Cereals Summit were 
treated to the classic pub tour throughout downtown 
Banff where they met with old and new friends over 
their favourite barley beverage. They took in a full 
day of speakers, learned about commission-funded 
research during a poster session, and enjoyed a five-
star meal during a banquet that included comedian 
Joe Pillitteri. Speaker highlights from the 2019 Prairie 
Cereals Summit included the Honourable Stockwell 
Day, who provided an analysis on international trade 
with a critical look at trade relations with China; 
Danielle Smith, former politician turned journalist, 
who reminded the agriculture industry of the urgency 
involved with getting our story out there in the public 
domain; and CN’s Fiona Murray, who participated 
in a grain transportation panel that discussed the 
relationship between Canadian agriculture and 
railway industries.

Prairie Cereals Summit
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GrainsWest magazine debuted some exciting new projects this past year. The 
fresh redesign of grainswest.com features an editorial-style layout that makes 
its content easy to read. With links to our social media and digital offerings, 
it has become a one-stop shop for readers to find everything GrainsWest. 
The website received more than 18,000 visitors in 2019. Our top online story 
was “Expensive acres” written by the magazine’s editor Ian Doig. The story 
discussed the burden of outsized land values to new and expanding farmers. 

The GrainsWest e-newsletter is delivered to 3,700 industry mailboxes 
each month. It features a roundup of top print stories as well as exclusive 
online-only stories to keep our readers engaged between print editions. Our 
most-read online edition of the year was the March 2019 issue, in which we 
published a story on value creation. It also featured an online-only discussion 
with political analyst Duane Bratt on the state of Alberta’s political landscape 
and the implications of the past provincial election for rural Alberta. Also 
included, was information on the Class 1 driver’s licence extension application 
and Team Alberta’s on-farm grain conditioning study. 

In September of 2019 we published the first special technology issue of 
GrainsWest. It featured stories about innovative grain handling equipment, 
drone mapping, precision ag platforms and much more. 

In 2019, we also debuted The GrainsWest Podcast. It is one of the first story-
focused podcasts in Canadian agriculture. The podcast’s debut episode 
was entitled “Reaching Out.” In it, we talked to agriculture community 
representatives about eliminating the stigma around mental health in farming 
and attended a mental health first-aid course put on in conjunction with 
the Do More Agriculture Foundation. To date, The GrainsWest Podcast has 
received more than 500 downloads and listens.

TECH •  2019

Connecting  

Farmers, Food 

and Ideas

 REMOTE SENSING SATELIITES  

 DRONE MAPPING

 PRECISION AG PLATFORMS

SPECIAL E DITION

The fresh redesign of grainswest.com 
features an editorial-style layout 
that makes its content easy to read. 
With links to our social media and 
digital offerings, it has become a 
one-stop shop for readers to find 
everything GrainsWest.” 
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GrainsWest editor Ian Doig interviews Alberta Wheat Commission director Hannah 

Konschuh for a podcast about mental health.

The website received more than 
18,000 visitors in 2019.

In September of 2019 we published 
the first special technology issue of 
GrainsWest. 

The GrainsWest e-newsletter 
is delivered to 3,700 industry 
mailboxes each month. 

The GrainsWest Podcast 
has received more than 500 
downloads and listens.
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AdvancingAg Future Leaders Program

June 2019 marked the graduation of the second class of the 
AdvancingAg Future Leaders Program. The class consisting of eight 
mentees (aged 18-35) were partnered with a mentor for a year of 
professional development and growth. The 2019 graduating class 
consisted of Logan Skori, Natasha Peiskar, B.P. Chennupati, Isabelle 
Thibout, Marissa Gehlert, Steven Vincett, Addison Cullen and  
Carly Pawluk. 

The program, now in its third year, focuses on mentoring young 
agriculture professionals in Alberta. The Alberta Wheat and Barley 
Commissions conceived this first-of its-kind program to develop 
strong leaders for a progressive and vibrant cropping sector with 
a specific focus on young agricultural enthusiasts. The intent 
is for graduates of this program to continue on in their careers, 
better able to manage their operations, or influence and shape the 

cropping sector as agriculture professionals. The industry leaders 
selected as mentors are paired with the young producers and 
professionals to impart their knowledge and experience, as well as 
to facilitate key potential learning and training opportunities. 

The AdvancingAg Future Leaders Program mentees and mentors 
for the class of 2020 have been selected and kicked off the year 
with their official meet and greet at the Hotel Arts in Calgary, 
Alberta in July 2019. The new class got to hear from past mentees 
on the enriching experiences and development that lies ahead for 
them. The class of 2020 consists of Jordyn Prior, Ashley Smith, 
Matija Stanic, Roddy Campbell, David Pinzon, Ryan Hallett, 
Abhinandan Kumar and Candace Roberts.

The program, now in its third year,  
focuses on mentoring young agriculture 
professionals in Alberta.” 
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Scholarships
AWC has established a number of scholarships 
aimed at developing future industry leaders. These 
scholarships are available to post-secondary 
students in agriculture-related studies, as well as 
students with a demonstrated interest in entering a 
career in the agriculture industry. 

University of Alberta 
• Graduate Award  

Alberta Wheat Commission  
Graduate Research Scholarship is Crop Science 
$10,000

• Undergraduate Award 
Alberta Wheat Commission Award in  
Sustainable Agriculture 
Field of Study: Sustainable Agricultural Systems 
$1,000

• Alberta Wheat Commission Award in Crop Science 
Field of Study: Crop Science 
$1,000

University of Lethbridge
• Alberta Wheat Commission Agronomy Scholarship 

Field of study: Any degree program  
$1,000

*Preference given to a student interested in pursuing a 
career in the field of agriculture, agronomy or plant 
genetics 

Olds College
• Alberta Wheat Commission Agriculture Award  

Field of study: Agriculture Management –     
Production Major 
$1,000

Lakeland College 
• Alberta Wheat Commission Scholarship in 

Crop Technology  
$1,000

Lethbridge College
• Alberta Wheat Commission Scholarship in     

Agriculture Science (Plant and Soil Major) 
$1,000
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Finance Governance  
and Human Resources

The finance department’s core function is to ensure sound 
financial planning and that processes are in place for AWC’s fiscal 
success. With a strong due diligence process in place, the finance 
department oversees check-off dollars and evaluates the best 
return on investment. Accountability and transparency hold our 
finance department to the highest standard.

Human Resources
Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions value building a strong 
work culture amongst commission staff. Given the highly 
collaborative nature of the commissions’ work, internal team 
cohesiveness is a priority. In spring 2019, commission staff 
participated in a team building day facilitated by MNP at Cuisine 
et Château. Staff worked together to prepare and cook different 
dishes a part of a three-course meal, and participated in other team 
building sessions throughout the day. 

Governance and Finance Committee 
The top priority of the committee is financial planning, budgeting, 
governance planning, advocacy and risk management to ensure 
check-off funds are spent responsibly on behalf of Alberta wheat 
farmers. The committee develops financial goals to ensure success 
through measurable strategies and objectives. 

The committee held numerous meetings this year including a 
special strategic planning session with the board. The committee 
began discussions on managing AWC’s surplus as well as 
preliminary discussions on the development of AWC’s five-year 
business plan. The five-year business plan will be a strategic road 
map for maintaining and sustaining AWC’s long-term financial 
health.

Alberta Wheat and Barley’s shared finance team continues to 
manage the financial portfolios for the commissions, GrainsWest, 
Barley Council of Canada and AgSafe Alberta. Managing these 
portfolios eliminates duplication of work and allows for further 
cost-savings and efficiencies with Alberta wheat and barley 
growers’ check-off dollars.

AWC Refund Rate 
AWC views the check-off refund rate as a benchmark that indicates 
how wheat farmers perceive the commission’s value. AWC 
continues to deliver value through core programming that has 
resulted in our refund rate remaining consistently between four and 
six per cent. Our commitment to communicating value regularly 
with farmers has resulted in consistently low refund rates. 

Re-licensing the check-off database 
In 2014, the Alberta Wheat and Barley Commissions’ finance 
team transitioned the check-off collection system from a third-
party program to in-house system. This new in-house database 
immediately offered efficiencies from an administrative standpoint, 
therefore resulting in significant cost-savings. Removing 
administrative burdens and duplication of work for grain dealers 
and administrative staff has resulted in relicensing opportunities 
amongst other industry members who require a collection system. 

Thanks to new efficiencies offered by our database, the 
commissions re-licensed the software to numerous Manitoba-
based producer groups last year. This past fiscal year, the 
commissions were approached by two additional grower groups 
for re-licensing; Manitoba Wheat and Barley Growers and Winter 
Cereals Manitoba. The commissions are proud to be at the leading-
edge of offering a collection database that offers cost-savings to 
growers across Western Canada. 
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With a strong due diligence process in place, the 
finance department oversees check-off dollars and 
evaluates the best return on investment.” 
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AWC’s governance model:  
A value proposition that works for farmers.

Creating Value 
Developing strategic goals 

and priorities in the interest 
of growing profitability for 

farmers. 

Enabling Value 
Executing initiatives in 

alignment with strategic goals 
and priorities with guidance 

from our farmer board of 
directors and committees. 

Preserving Value 
Regular meetings with our 

farmer board of directors to 
ensure on-going initiatives 
consistently demonstrate 

sustainable return on 
investment at the farm gate.

Reporting Value 
Executing relevant and 

useful internal and external 
business reporting and 

communications. 

AWC was proud to take home a 2018 Canadian 
Agri-Marketing Award for FarmCash winning best 
website directed at producers and all others serving 
agribusiness.”
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On September 1, 2018, AWC launched 
FarmCash — an innovative cash advance 
option for Alberta agriculture producers. 
FarmCash is offered through the Advance 
Payments Program (APP) by Agriculture 
and Agri-Food Canada. APP is a federal 
loan guarantee program which provides 
agricultural producers with easy access to 
low interest cash advances.

Initially, loan limits as set by the APP were 
a maximum of $400,000 per program 
year based on the value of the agricultural 
product, with the Government of Canada 
paying the interest on the first $100,000 
advanced to a producer and the remaining 
$300,000 at a low interest rate.

In May 2019, the Government of Canada 
revised the APP limits by increasing loan 
limits up to $1 million for all commodities 
and $500,000 interest free portion on 
canola advances. All other commodities’ 
interest free portion remain $100,000. 
The increase in loan limits and the interest 
free portion on canola advances were 
implemented to help relieve Canadian canola 
producers after China halted Canadian 
canola imports in early 2019.  

AWC designed FarmCash to be a simple and 
convenient cash advance option for Alberta 
producers. FarmCash offers cash advances 
on over 50 agriculture commodities through 
a first of its kind online application. Given 

the time-consuming nature of paperwork 
and applying for a loan, FarmCash’s online 
application platform offers time saving 
features such as an online calculator, a 
document upload feature and the ability to 
accept e-signatures. 

Since launching in late 2018, FarmCash has 
made continual improvements to the online 
application based on customer feedback. 
Features such as the new document 
upload feature allows applicants to easily 
submit verification documents with their 
application. FarmCash also reduced its 
interest rate from TD Prime to TD Prime 
minus 0.5 per cent. 

Year one had successful uptake for 
FarmCash, a program that fosters Alberta 
farmers’ profitability. AWC was proud 
to take home a 2018 Canadian Agri-
Marketing Award for FarmCash winning best 
website directed at producers and all others 
serving agribusiness. AWC is committed 
to administering a fully transparent and 
accountable business model where 100 per 
cent of any proceeds from FarmCash will 
be used to benefit the entire agriculture 
industry in Alberta.

Visit our simple and convenient website 
and fill out our online application at 
farmcashadvance.com.  

FarmCash 

FarmCash offers cash advances on over 50 agriculture 
commodities through a first of its kind online application.”

Advance Payments 
Program

Programme de 
paiements anticipés
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Financial Statements
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Tom Steve, General Manager

Management’s Responsibility
To the Members of Alberta Wheat Commission: 

Management is responsible for the preparation and presentation 
of the accompanying financial statements, including responsibility 
for significant accounting judgments and estimates in accordance 
with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations 
and ensuring that all information in the annual report is consistent 
with the statements. This responsibility includes selecting appropriate 
accounting principles and methods, and making decisions affecting 
the measurement of transactions in which objective judgment is 
required. 

In discharging its responsibilities for the integrity and fairness of 
the financial statements, management designs and maintains the 
necessary accounting systems and related internal controls to 
provide reasonable assurance that transactions are authorized, 
assets are safeguarded and financial records are properly 
maintained to provide reliable information for the preparation of 
financial statements.

The Board of Directors is composed entirely of Directors who are 
neither management nor employees of the Commission. The Board 
is responsible for overseeing management in the performance of 
its financial reporting responsibilities, and for approving the financial 
information included in the annual report. The Board fulfils 
these responsibilities by reviewing the financial information 
prepared by management and discussing relevant matters with 
management and external auditors. The Board is also responsible 
for recommending  the appointment of the Commission’s external 
auditors. 

MNP LLP is appointed by the members to audit the financial 
statements and report directly to them; their report follows. The 
external auditors have full and free access to, and meet periodically 
and separately with, both the Board and management to discuss 
their audit findings.  

November 5, 2019 



AWC 2018-19 Annual Report   47

Independent Auditors’ Report

To the Members of Alberta Wheat Commission:

Qualified Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Alberta Wheat Commission (the “Commission”), which comprise the statement of financial 
position as at July 31, 2019, and the statements of operations, changes in net assets and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes  to the 
financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies, and schedule.

In our opinion, except for the possible effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report, the  accompanying 
financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Commission as at July 31, 2019,  and the results of its 
operations and its cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.

Basis for Qualified Opinion
In common with many similar organizations, the Commission derives revenue through “check-off” fees received from wheat producers, 
the completeness of which could not be satisfactorily verified during our audit. Accordingly, our verification of these revenues and related 
accounts receivable and deferred revenue was limited to the amounts recorded in the Commission’s records and we were unable to 
determine whether any adjustments might be necessary to check-off fee revenue, excess of revenue over expenses, assets and net assets.

We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities under those standards are 
further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent of the 
Commission in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Canada, and we have 
fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is 
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our qualified opinion.

Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with Canadian accounting 
standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparationof 
financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Commission’s ability to continue as a going concern, 
disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless management either 
intends to liquidate the Commission or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. Those charged with governance are 
responsible for overseeing the Commission’s financial reporting process. 

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from material misstatement, 
whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, 
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a 
material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the 
aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional judgment and maintain 
professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also: 

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design and perform audit 
procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The 
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.
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• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the 
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Commission’s internal control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related    
disclosures made by management.       

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit evidence 
obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the Commission’s ability 
to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to 
the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based 
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Commission to 
cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and whether the financial 
statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair presentation. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and   
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit.    
   

       
       

Calgary, Alberta 
November 5, 2019       Chartered Professional Accountants
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements.

Statement of Financial Position 
 
As at July 31, 2019

 
 Operating

 FarmCash Advance  
 Payments Program

 
 2019

 
 2018

Assets
Current

Cash 7,949,551 – 7,949,551 7,139,569

Restricted cash (Note 7) 199,171 – 199,171 179,985

Accounts receivable (Note 3) 1,083,258 – 1,083,258 1,102,042

Prepaid expenses and deposits 90,409 – 90,409 51,030

Current portion of FarmCash Advances (Note 14) – 2,824,827 2,824,827 –

9,322,389 2,824,827 12,147,216 8,472,626

Investments (Note 4) 2,329,390 – 2,329,390 2,482,900

Restricted investments (Note 5) 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 2,000,000

FarmCash Advances (Note 14) – 9,494,956 9,494,956 –

Capital assets (Note 6) 113,158 155,636 268,794 100,779

Deposits 23,666 – 23,666 23,666

 13,788,603 12,475,419 26,264,022 13,079,971

Liabilities
Current

Accounts payable and accruals 1,236,280 – 1,236,280 1,109,678

Deferred revenue (Note 7) 199,171 – 199,171 179,985

FarmCash Advance program bank indebtedness (Note 14) – 12,306,885 12,306,885 –

 1,435,451 12,306,885 13,742,336 1,289,663

Commitments (Note 10)

Net Assets
Internally restricted (Note 5) 2,000,000 – 2,000,000 2,000,000

Unrestricted 10,508,788 168,534 10,521,686 9,790,308

 12,353,152 168,534 12,521,686 11,790,308

 13,788,603 12,475,419 26,264,022 13,079,971

 

Approved on behalf of the Board

Gary Stanford  
Director

Hannah Konschuh 
Director
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The accompanying notes are an integral part of these financial statements

Statement of Operations
 
For the year ended July 31, 2019

 
 Operating

 FarmCash Advance  
 Payments Program

 
 2019

 
 2018

Revenue
Check-off fee revenue (Note 8) 9,324,348 – 9,324,348 9,193,507
Check-off fee refunds (548,608) – (548,608) (468,450)
Grain Conditioning revenue (Note 7) 201,469 – 201,469 –

Regional Variety Trials revenue (Note 7) 125,750 – 125,750 87,870

FarmCash Advance Payment Program (Schedule 1) – 44,858 44,858 –
Sponsorship revenue (Note 12) 10,438 – 10,438 90,006
Farm Safety revenue (Note 7) – – – 314,378
AgSafe Society revenue (Note 7) – – – 117,765
AG Coalition revenue (Note 7) – – – 95,128
ACIDF Research Funds (Note 7) – – – 67,000
GrainsWest revenue – – – 37,153

 9,113,397 44,858 9,158,255 9,534,357

Expenses
Research expenses 4,114,910 – 4,114,910 2,825,519
Communication expenses 905,120 – 905,120 999,598
CIGI funding contribution (Note 9) 748,408 – 748,408 664,881
Salaries and benefits 651,540 – 651,540 574,438
Market development expenses 660,767 – 660,767 520,146
FarmCash Advance Program (Schedule 1) – 322,801 322,801 –
Policy expenses 341,626 – 341,626 308,031
General and administrative expenses 175,133 – 175,133 178,481
Industry meetings and events 249,192 – 249,192 168,368
GrainsWest expenses 156,437 – 156,437 154,085
Rent 155,579 – 155,579 183,289
Growers Relations Mentorship program 118,591 – 118,591 69,092
Agri-Risk expenses – – – 91,724
Professional fees 41,062 – 41,062 62,533

IT services and computer expenses 37,059 – 37,059 44,615

Amortization 22,187 – 22,187 23,231
AG Coalition expenses – – – 95,128
AgSafe Society expenses – – – 117,765
Farm safety expenses – – – 322,940

 8,377,611 322,801 8,700,412 7,403,864

Excess of revenue over expenses before other items 735,786 (277,943) 457,843 2,130,493

Other items

Unrealized gain on investments 24,339 – 24,339 60,451
Interest income 240,769 – 240,769 103,986
Other revenue 8,427 – 8,427 31,895

Excess of revenue over expenses 1,009,321 (277,943) 731,378 2,326,825
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Statement of Changes in Net Assets 
 
For the year ended July 31, 2019

 
 Unrestricted

 FarmCash Advance  
 Payments Program

 Internally 
 Restricted

 
 2019

 
 2018

Net assets, beginning of year 9,790,308 – 2,000,000 11,790,308 9,463,483

Excess of revenue over expenses 1,009,321 (277,943) – 731,378 2,326,825

Transfer (446,477) 446,477 – – –

Net assets, end of year 10,353,152 168,534 2,000,000 12,521,686 11,790,308
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Statement of Cash Flows 
For the year ended July 31, 2019 2019 2018

Cash provided by (used for) the following activities
Operating

Excess of revenue over expenses 731,378 2,326,825

Amortization 40,422 23,231

Unrealized gain on investments (24,339) (60,451)

 747,461 2,289,605

Changes in working capital accounts

Accounts receivable 18,784 (25,322)

Prepaid expenses and deposits (39,379) (35,332)

Accounts payable and accruals 126,604 630,242

Deferred revenue 19,186 (369,341)

  872,656 2,489,852

Investing

Purchase of capital assets (208,437) (20,223)

Purchase of investments (1,877,589) (1,270,687)

Proceeds from sale of investments 2,055,439 1,537,725

FarmCash Advance Program receivable, net (12,319,783) -

 (12,350,370) 246,815

Financing

FarmCash Advance Program bank indebtedness, net 12,306,882 -

Increase in cash 829,168 2,736,667

Cash, beginning of year 7,319,554 4,582,887

Cash, end of year 8,148,722 7,319,554

Cash is comprised of:

Unrestricted cash 7,949,551 7,139,569

Restricted cash 199,171 179,985

 8,148,722 7,319,554
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Notes to the Financial Statements
For the year ended July 31, 2019

1. Incorporation and nature of the organization
The Alberta Wheat Commission (the “Commission”) was incorporated effective August 1, 2012 under the authority of the Province of 
Alberta Marketing of Agricultural Products Act. It is registered as a not-for-profit organization and, thus, is exempt from income taxes 
under 149(1)(l) of the Income Tax Act (“the Act”). In order to maintain its status as a registered not-for-profit organization under the 
Act, the Commission must meet certain requirements within the Act. In the opinion of management these requirements have been met.

The Commission’s mandate is to give Alberta wheat producers an organization for developing new markets and products for wheat and 
for influencing the direction of research dedicated to wheat production.

2. Significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations and 
include the following significant accounting policies:

Basis of presentation
The Commission reports its financial statements using two funds: the Operating Fund and the FarmCash Advance Payments Program 
Fund. The Operating fund contains all assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the regular operations of the Commission. The 
FarmCash Advance Payments Program Fund contains all assets, liabilities, revenue and expenses of the FarmCash Advance Payments 
Program as defined in Note 14.

Revenue recognition
The Commission follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recognized as revenue in the 
year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as revenue when received or receivable if the 
amount to be received can be reasonably estimated and collection is reasonably assured.

Restricted investment income is recognized as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted investment 
income is recognized as revenue when earned. Externally restricted capital contributions are recognized as revenue as the related asset 
is amortized. Donations and contributions in-kind are recorded at fair value when such value can reasonably be determined.

Portfolio investments
Investments with prices quoted in an active market are measured at fair value while those that are not quoted in an active market 
are measured at cost less impairment. Marketable securities with prices quoted in an active market include guaranteed investment 
certificates (“GICs”), mutual funds and corporate bonds.

Financial instruments
The Commission recognizes its financial instruments when the Commission becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial 
instrument. All financial instruments are initially recorded at their fair value, including financial assets and liabilities originated and 
issued in a related party transaction with management. Financial assets and liabilities originated and issued in all other related party 
transactions are initially measured at their carrying or exchange amount in accordance with CPA 3840 Related Party Transactions. 
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2. Significant accounting policies (continued from previous page)

At initial recognition, the Commission may irrevocably elect to subsequently measure any financial instrument at fair value. The 
Commission has not made such an election during the year. The Commission’s financial assets and liabilities are subsequently  
measured at amortized cost.

Financial asset impairment
The Commission assesses impairment of all its financial assets measured at cost or amortized cost. An impairment of financial assets 
carried at amortized cost is recognized in the excess of revenue over expenses when the asset’s carrying amount exceeds the present 
value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar financial asset. The Commission 
reverses impairment losses on financial assets when there is a decrease in impairment and the decrease can be objectively related to an 
event occurring after the impairment loss was recognized. Where an impairment charge is subsequently reversed, the carrying amount 
of the financial asset is increased to the revised recoverable amount to the extent that it does not exceed the carrying amount that 
would have been determined had no impairment charge been recognized in previous periods. The amount of the reversal is recognized 
in the excess of revenue over expenses in the year the reversal occurs.

Capital assets
Purchased capital assets are recorded at cost. Contributed capital assets are recorded at fair value at the date of contribution if fair value 
can be reasonably determined.

Amortization is provided using the declining balance method at rates intended to amortize the cost of assets over their estimated useful 
lives.

Rate

Automotive 30%

Computer equipment 20%

Furniture and fixtures 20%

Promotional equipment 33%

FarmCash Advances receivable
FarmCash Advances receivable are initially recorded at fair value and subsequently measured at their amortized cost less impairment. 
Amortized cost is calculated as the FarmCash Advance principal amount, less any allowance for anticipated losses, plus accrued 
interest. Interest revenue is recorded on the accrual basis using the straight-line method. Any allowance for FarmCash Advances 
impairment is established as a result of reviews of individual FarmCash Advances.  

Measurement uncertainty (use of estimates)  
The preparation of financial statements in conformity with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations requires 
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent 
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements, and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reporting 
year.

Accounts receivable are stated after evaluation as to their collectability and an appropriate allowance for doubtful accounts is provided 
where considered necessary. Amortization is based on the estimated useful lives of capital assets.

These estimates and assumptions are reviewed periodically and, as adjustments become necessary they are reported in excess of 
revenue over expenses in the years in which they become known.  
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3. Accounts receivable 
 2019 2018

Check-off fees receivable 530,086 783,854

Other receivables 223,995 116,226

Alberta Barley Commission  329,177 201,962

 1,083,258 1,102,042

Alberta Barley Commission is related to the Commission by virtue of common management. All transactions between the two parties 
are measured at exchange amount and bear standard commercial terms of payment. At July 31, 2019 the Commission also had various 
payable balances included in accounts payable and accruals to Alberta Barley Commission, resulting in a net receivable of $147,308.

4. Investments
Investments, which include GICs, mutual funds and corporate bonds, are reported on and have maturity dates between June 22, 
2020 and March 13, 2023 (2018 – September 2, 2018 and December 2, 2021) and bear interest at annual rates between 1.40% and 
2.70% (2018 – 1.40% and 1.90%). Investments are stated at their market value. It is the intention of the Board to hold all investments 
until maturity. Management’s intentions are to hold these investment amounts for future operations therefore this amount has been 
classified as long-term.

5. Restricted investments
Restricted investments include GICs, mutual funds and corporate bonds with yields to maturity between 1.40% and 2.70% with 
maturity dates between June 22, 2020 and March 13, 2023. Restricted investments are stated at their market value. It is the intention 
of the Board to hold all restricted investments until maturity. The Board of Directors has internally restricted $1,000,000 of short-term 
investments as a reserve for future research and $1,000,000 as a reserve for contingencies. These funds cannot be accessed without 
the approval of the Board of Directors. Management’s intentions are to hold these restricted investment amounts for future research and 
contingencies reserves therefore this amount has been classified as long-term. Interest and gains on these investments are unrestricted 
and included in the unrestricted investment balance.

6. Capital assets

  
 Cost

 Accumulated  
 amortization

 2019  
 Net book value

 2018 
 Net book value

Automotive 7,289 6,560 729 1,041

Computer equipment 145,424 85,205 60,219 61,857

Furniture and fixtures 107,819 76,906 30,913 36,520

Promotional equipment 9,699 8,746 953 1,361

Educational exhibit 20,689 345 20,344 –

FarmCash website development 173,872 18,236 155,636 –

 464,792 195,998 268,794 100,779
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7. Deferred revenue    
Changes in deferred revenue and the related restricted cash are as follows:

 2019 2018

Balance, beginning of year 179,985 549,326

Add: Amounts collected but not yet recognized 425,750 78,665

Less: Amounts recognized as revenue during the year (406,564) (448,006)

Balance, end of year 199,171 179,985

The $199,171 is restricted cash specifically used for the AG Coalition, Farm Safety Program, RVT and NEFP sponsorship, ACIDF, AgSafe 
Society and Grain Conditioning programs.    

AG Coalition: The Commission was a catalyst in the formation of the AG Coalition, a producer-driven group of 29 organizations united 
by a common industry goal to foster a culture of farm safety in Alberta. The Commission provides staff and administrative support to 
the coalition.

Farm Safety Program: The Commission is the administrator of a grant under Growing Forward 2 (“GF2”), a federal-provincial-territorial 
agreement, for the development and delivery of farm safety workshops and materials. The Commission is a member of the Alberta Farm 
and Ranch Safety Extension Working Group, a coalition of crop and livestock groups that directs allocation of the GF2 grant dollars.

Regional Variety Trials (“RVTs”): The Commission will provide financial support to the Alberta Wheat RVTs, which are an 
important source of unbiased information on crop variety performance used by Alberta grain producers to make planting decisions. 
The Commission will also assume the role of financial administrator for the Alberta-British Columbia Grain Advisory Committee 
(“ABCGAC”), which includes the collection of all entry fees and industry contributions and dissemination of plot cooperator 
compensation beginning in 2017.

For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission received $125,750 (2018 – $87,870) from the ABCGAC for these services provided 
and recognized $125,750 (2018 – $87,870) in revenue. As the funds received by the Commission were solely for this  project, any funds 
not spent were segregated and reported as deferred revenue. When the appropriate expenditure is made, the  corresponding amount is 
recognized as revenue in the same year in which the expense is made. 

National Environmental Farm Plan sponsorship (“NEFP”): The Commission, as a member of the NEFP steering committee, invited 
Agri-food stakeholders from across the value chain to attend the second annual NEFP Summit in Ottawa in November 2017. Attendees 
further developed a national standard designed to connect environmentally sustainable practices at the farm level with global food 
buyers’ growing need to source sustainable ingredients.

For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission received $nil (2018 – $nil) from various Agri-food stakeholders and recognized $nil 
(2018 – $63,310) in sponsorship revenue. As the funds received by the Commission were solely for this project, any funds not spent 
were segregated and reported as deferred revenue. When the appropriate expenditure is made, the corresponding amount is recognized 
as revenue in the same year in which the expense is made.

Alberta Crop Industry Development Fund Ltd (“ACIDF”): On February 20, 2018, ACIDF transferred its financial obligations  under the 
Investment Agreement to the Commission. The Commission took on the role of “Funders Representative” and received a payment of 
$79,000 from ACIDF to cover outstanding research project payments.

For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission has released project payments of $nil (2018 – $67,000). As the funds received by the 
Commission were solely for the purpose of covering outstanding payments on behalf of ACIDF, any funds not  released were segregated 
and reported as deferred revenue.
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7. Deferred revenue (continued from previous page)
AgSafe Society: The Commission is the administrator of the AgSafe Society. The focus of AgSafe Society is to support a safety culture 
on farms and ranches in Alberta.

For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission received $nil (2018 – $170,000) from the Government of Alberta. As the funds 
received by the Commission were solely for this project, any funds not spent were segregated and reported as deferred revenue. When 
the appropriate expenditure is made, the corresponding amount is recognized as revenue in the same year in which the expense is 
made.

Grain Conditioning Program: For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission received $300,000 (2018 – $nil) from the Government 
of Alberta. As the funds received by the Commission were solely for this project, any funds not spent were segregated and reported as 
deferred revenue. When the appropriate expenditure is made, the corresponding amount is recognized as revenue in the same year in 
which the expense is made.

8. Check-off fee revenue
With the end of Western Canadian Deduction (“WCD”), effective August 1, 2017, the Commission has moved to a single wheat check-
off of $1.09. Prior to that it was $0.70 per tonne and the WCD was $0.48 per tonne.

The motion to move to a single check-off of $1.09 per tonne was passed at the Commission’s AGM in February 2017 and has received 
approval from the Government of Alberta.

The WCD was established as a transitional levy by the Government of Canada to ensure continued support for the development of new 
wheat varieties and marketing initiatives previously administered by the Canadian Wheat Board.

9. CIGI funding contribution
The wheat commissions in Alberta, Saskatchewan and Manitoba assumed the responsibilities and financial obligations of the WCD.

A portion of the WCD provided core funding to the Canadian International Grains Institute (“CIGI”), which provides market support, 
training and technical services to the Canadian wheat value chain.

In an ongoing effort to strengthen market opportunities for Canadian wheat, the provincial wheat commissions mutually agreed and 
committed to continue to provide core funding to CIGI.

For the year ended July 31, 2019, the Commission’s contribution to the commitment was $693,458 (2018 – $664,881). The Commission 
contributed an additional $54,950 to CIGI for the purchase of Buhler Color Sortex to upgrade the cleaning system of CIGI’s pilot mill.

10. Commitments
On September 1, 2013, the Commission occupied leased premises subject to minimum monthly rent until the termination of the contract 
at August 31, 2020. The rental agreement is a joint agreement with the Alberta Barley Commission which is responsible for one-half of 
the below payments.

2020  162,000

Thereafter, to August 31, 2020  22,500

 184,500
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11. Financial instruments
The Commission, as part of its operations, carries a number of financial instruments. It is management’s opinion that the Commission is 
not exposed to significant interest rate, currency, credit, or other price risks arising from these financial instruments except as otherwise 
disclosed. Risks associated with FarmCash Advance Payments Program are disclosed in Note 14.

The Commission is indirectly exposed to market risk due to fluctuations in the investments’ prices. These fluctuations could have an 
impact on cash flows of the Commission.

12. Sponsorship revenue
Included in revenue in the statement of operations is $10,438 (2018 – $26,696) for Events Sponsorship revenue and $nil (2018 – 
$63,310) recognized as NEFP sponsorship revenue.

13. Comparative figures
Certain comparative figures have been reclassified to conform with current year presentation.

14. FarmCash Advance Payments Program
The Commission has entered into a Tri-Partite Agreement (the “Agreement”) with Her Majesty the Queen in Right of Canada, as 
represented by the Minister of Agriculture and Agri-Food, and a Canadian Chartered Bank (the “Lender”) to become an administrator in 
the Advance Payments Program (the “Program”) under the Agriculture Marketing Programs Act (the “Act”). 

Under the terms of the Program, the Commission is authorized to issue advances to producers who meet eligibility criteria. In order 
to facilitate the Program, the Commission has entered into Loan Agreements with the Lender. The Commission may only use funds 
advanced by the Lender for the purposes outlined in the Agreement and is responsible for any costs, including interest and penalties, 
related to failing to comply with this stipulation.

Amounts lent by the Commission are not to exceed $20,000,000 for the 2018 program year, and $33,000,000 for the 2019 program 
year. At year end, $15,357,238 was issued, not exceeding the amount approved by its financial instruction. Pursuant to the Act, the 
Minister guarantees to the Lender all principal lent by the Administrator as well as interest calculated at a specified interest rate. The 
Minister is also responsible, at the request of the Commission, for the costs incurred by the Commission to recover principal and 
interest owed by a producer in default, so long as the Commission is in compliance with the terms of the Agreement. 

FarmCash Advances charge interest at rates based on prime with maturities ranging from one to twenty-four months. The receivables 
are guaranteed by the Federal Government. No allowance for loan impairment has been provided at July 31, 2019.

To finance the arrangement, the Commission has a series operating lines of credit and banker’s acceptances available, both of which 
bear interest at market based interest rates. At year-end, the maximum credit limit of the lines of credit available was $40,900,000, of 
which $206,833 was drawn. Bankers acceptances of $12,100,000 with repayment dates between August 7, 2019 and August 26, 2019 
were also drawn.
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Schedule 1 – Schedule of FarmCash Advance Payments Program Operations
For the year ended July 31, 2019

 
 Start-up  
 Costs

 2018   
 Program Year

 2019  
 Program Year

   Fiscal   
   2019  

 Fiscal  
 2018

Revenue

–

Program Revenue – 35,801 9,057 44,858  –

Expenses

Branding and information technology 52,469 – – 52,469 –

Program administration 102,593 – – 102,593 –

Advertising 109,079 – – 109,079 –

Depreciation 18,236 – – 18,236 –

Interest and bank charges 8,617 23,341 8,466 40,424 –

 290,994 23,341 8,466 322,801 –

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses (290,994) 12,460 591 (277,943) –
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